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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
WESTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

STEVEN MORAN,

Plaintiff,

DECISION AND ORDER

13€V-6343L
V.

WEGMANS FOOD MARKETS, INC.,

Defendant.

INTRODUCTION

Plaintiff Steven Moran(“Moran’) brings thisaction alleging that defendakYegmans
Food Markets, Inc. ("Wegmansgiscriminated against him with respect to his employment in
violation of the Americans with Disabilities ACtADA”), 42 U.S.C§12101 et secand theNew
York Human Rights Law, N.Y. Exec. Law §296.

Moran has been employed since in or about 1996 by Wegmans as a truck driver. On or
aboutNovember 26, 2011IMoran filed a discrimination complaint agains$¥egmanswith the

Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOCH)leging thatWegmanshadrefused to

1 The NYHRL contains provisions against discrimination and retaliat@trette similar to thosender the
ADA, and are thus governed and analyzed using the same stand&edRodal v. Anesthesia Group of Onondaga,
P.C., 369 F.3d 113, 117 n. 1 (2d Cir. 200Meglia v. Town of Manlius, 313 F.3d 713, 719 (2d Cir. 2002).
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permit him to takdime off of work as a reasonable accommodation for his disapibsticular
cancer

Moranalleges thatthe EEOC investigated hesaims(the result of that investigation is not
specified) and thaton April 4, 2013, theEEOCissued hima “90-dayright to sue” letter This
action followed. In his complaint, Moran amplifies the claims he made é®EEOGwith the
following additional allegationg1) in or about April 2011, Moran began working closely with
Wegmans’ Human Resources department to “address his need off ktain days of work due
to his ongoing medical condition as a reasonable accommodation”; (2) on or about August 7, 2011,
Moran began feeling ill and left work to visit his physician; (3) later in theayan’s physician
faxed a message to Wegmans stating that Moran would need to be out of work for theerpext t
days; and (4) on August 10, 2011, plaintiff returned to work, but was sent home after being
informed that he would spend the day on suspension for violating Wegmans’ attendance policy

(Dkt. #1 at 1920-283

2 The Court notes that thpdaintiff's complaint, as well as the attorney affidavit in opposition tarib&on
to dismiss, allege that “[d]efendant regarded Plaintiff as substantraitgdi in the major life activities [of caring for
himself, concentrating, thinking, communicagiand working], and subjected him tchestile work environment
because of a perceptionméntal illnessbased on myth, fear, and/or stereotype, as detailed below.” (Dktf#2,at
repeated and referenced at Dkt. #14 at 3) (emphasis added). However, theowtzng no other reference to this
factual allegation, and plaintiff, in his EEOC charge, described theenafthis disability as, “cancer and related
medical conditions.” (Dkt. #34, Exh. B). Plaintiff's counsel conceded at the July 22, 2014 hearirfgednstant
motion that the inclusion of this allegation in the complaint was probablydh# of a careless catndpaste job by
plaintiff's former attorney, Christina Agola, who has since beapeauded from practice. The Court thusuasss
that the hostile work environment and mental iliness allegation®aeetually part of plaintiff's claim, regardless of
the fact that his present counsel appears to have compounded thay paisobng them in his affidavit in opposition
to thepresent motion.



Wegmans now movds dismiss the Complaint pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6), on
the grounds thatMorans complaint &ils to state a cause of actidor disability-based
discrimination or retaliation (Dkt. #4. For the reasons set forth beldiag motion to dismiss is

granted, and the complaint is dismissed.

DISCUSSION

Standard for Deciding a Motion to Dismiss

In deciding a motion to dismiss under Fed. R. Civ. Proc. 12(b)(6), athe<review is
limited to the omplaint, andhiose documents attached to the complaint or incorporated therein by
reference. See Newman & Schwartz v. Asplundh Tree Expert Co., 102 F.3d 660, 662 (2d Cir.
1996). The Court musaccept the allegations contained in the complaint as true, and draw all
reasonable inferences in favor of the meavant.” Sheppard v. Beerman, 18 F.3d147, 150 (2d
Cir. 1994),citing Ad-Hoc Comm. of Baruch Black & Hispanic Alumni Asshv. Bernard M. Baruch
College, 835 F.2d 980, 982 (2d Cir. 1987). Nonetheléasplaintiffs obligation . . . requires
more than labels and conclusions, and a formu&ittation of the elements of a cause of action
will not do. Factual allegations must be enough to raise a right to abliefe the speculative
level” Bell Atlantic Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007). Thu$ald assertions and
conclusions ofdw will not suffice] Reddington v. Saten Island Univ. Hosp., 511 F.3d 126, 126
(2d Cir. 2007), and where a plaintifha[s] not nudged [his] claims across the line from

conceivable to plausible, [his] complaint must be dismissedybmbly, 550 U.S. 544 at 570.



Il. Moran’s Discrimination Claim

Title 1 of the ADA prohibits employers from discriminating again agyalified individual
with a disability because of the disability of such individual in regatdatoy aspect of
employment. 42 U.S.@12112(a) A plaintiff asserting a violation of the ADA must show that:
(1) his employer is subject to the ADA; (2) he was disabled within the meaning cdD#g(3) he
was otherwise qualified to perform the essential functions of his job, with or withasmnble
accommodation; and (4) he suffered adverse employment action because aihiigydisSee
Giordano v. City of New York, 274 F.3d 740, 747 (2d Cir. 2001).
Upon careful review oMoran's complaint, | find that he has failto state a plausible claiwf
disability-based discriminatian

While Moranhas alleged that he wdsabled within the meaning of the ADA and NYHRL
during the time period in question, has failed to plausibly allege tHawasqualified to perform
the essential functions of pesitionat the time of the alleged discriminatory aetgh or without
reasonable accommodatioindeed Moran does natvenset forthany ofthe essential functions
of his position. While the Court can reasonably inflatthe essential functions afjob denoted
“Truck Driver’ primarily consistof driving a truck,Moran nonethelesgails anywhere in the
complaintto allege that he was able to perform the requiremerttseafuck driver positionyith
or without areasonable accommodatiorgee generally Graves v. Finch Pruyn & Co., 2009 U.S.
App. LEXIS 25142 at *560 (2d Cir. 2009) ("[w]e have never expressly held that leasbsarice
from an employee’s job taken in order to recover from the employee’s disalslityeasonable
accommodations’ under the ADA . . . [e]ven assuming that they can be under certain
circumstances, however, they must enable the employee to perform theabfsections of his
job™) (unpublished opinion)Petrone v. Hampton Bays Union Free Sch. Dist., 2013 U.S. Dist.
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LEXIS 97292 at *69*70 (E.D.N.Y. 2013) (unless an employee seeking medical leave as a
“reasonable accommodation” made a showing to the employer, contemporanédhbs vaguest,

that the accommodation would allow him to perform the essential functions of his job, “the
employee has not established that he was a qualified individual”).

The Court declines plaintiff's invitation to extrapolate his allegation that he “nmasatan
above average work record” in his employment into an affirmative avetimegrie wasble to
perform the requirements of his position with or without reasonable accommodsdtaresround
the time of his suspension. (Dkt. #14 &8)8 While the Court is mindful of the need to grant
plaintiff every favorable inference on a motion tondiiss his pleading, th€ourt is not free to
correct its deficienciesua sponte, by strayng so farbeyondthe plain meaning of the tettiat it
imagines factual allegations whidre notactually there If plaintiff wished to amend the
complaint in response to the omissions identified by Wegmans in its motiomtisslise could
have cross moved to dm. Plaintiffopted torely uponhis original complaintand the Couig
analysisis accordinglycabined by the four corners tfat pleading, in additioto the inferences
that can reasonably be drawn therefrom, and documents incorporated biygefarence

Even asumingarguendo that the Court could or should infer simply by the nature of
Moran’sclaimsthat hebelieved, and intended to convey in ttwenplaint,that he “could return to
work under the right circumstancesjaight v. NYU Langone Med. Ctr., 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
88117 at *47 (S.D.N.Y. 2014Moran has also failed to plausibly allege that he was subjected to an
adverse employment actionAn adverse employment action is “a materially adverse change in
the terms and conditions of employment,” such as “termination of employment, @iaem

evidenced by a decrease in wage or salary, a less distinguished title, a matoablesefits,



signficantly diminished material responsibilities, or other indices unique to a dartsstuation.”
Sandersv. N.Y.C. Human Res. Admin., 361 F.3d 749, 755 (2d Cir. 2004).

Initially, mere “threats” to terminate one’s employment do not, by themseleagitute
adverse employment actionssee Honey v. County of Rockland, 200 F. Supp. 2d 311, 321
(S.D.N.Y. 2002) (“courts in this circuit have found that reprimands, threats of disciphicton
and excessive scrutiny do not constitute adverse employactions in the absence of other
negative results”). While a suspension can comprise an adverse employnantdeie it
negatively affects the terms and conditionsongé’s employment or exceeds the “employee’s
normal exposure to disciplinary policies” by going beyond the employer’satydisciplinary
procedures, Mranmakes nsuch allegation in the complaintSee Joseph v. Leavitt, 465 F.3d 87
at 92 n.1 (2d Cir. 2006).Moran’sonly allegationsoncerning th®neday suspension in August
2011 —anaction that Moran’s October 2011 EEOC charge did not even menisothat it was
ostensibly done to punish his violation of Wegmans' attendance policies followsg hi
unauthorized threday absencgeandthat it “has remained on Plaintiff's [employmemngcord”
despite Moran’s effort to have it expunged. (Dkt. #1 at 28 generally Brown v. City of
Syracuse, 673 F.3d 1412d Cir. 2006) (suspension with pay does not, without more, coestitut
adverse employment actionMorandoes not allege that the suspension (or the record ltddt)
any negative repercussions on the terms and conditions of his employment whatsoinea it
strayed beyond the boundaries of Wegmans’ disciplinary policies relativendatte.

Because Moran has faileéol dlege facts establishing that he is a “qualified individual” for
purposes of the ADANANYHRL, andbr that he was subjected to an adverse employment action

because of his disabilitye has failed to state a plausible claim of disabrighated discrimiation



under the ADA or NYHRL. Tose claimsredismissed. Seegenerally Igbal v. Hasty, 490 F.3d

143 at 157-158.

[I. Moran’s Retaliation Claim

Moran also clains thatthe oneday suspension, along with threats Wegmans to
terminate his employmenwere adverse employment actions whacicurred in retaliatiofor his
request for théreasonable accommodatioof time off from work.

To state a claim for retaliation under the AD#Aplaintiff must allege that: (1}e engaged
in an activity protectedybthe ADA; (2) the employer was aware of this activity; (3) the employer
took an adverse employment action agaimst, and (4) a causal connection exists between the
alleged adverse aoh and the protected activitySee Treglia, 313 F.3d 713 at 719.

First, | find that Moran has not plausibly alleged that he engaged in protectaty.acti
Although Moran characterizéise doctor’s notehat was faxed to Wegmans on August 7, 2001
stating that Moran would babsent from work for three day- as a tequest for an
accommodation,the facts alleged in the complaid notsupportthe conclusion that it was a
“request” for anything Moran alleges only that heft work because he was feeling poodgd
needed to see his physicjamddidn’t returnfor three days. His actions, as alleged, were entirely
unilateral: Wegmankad no opportunity to grant or deny Mor@me off as anaccommodation,
becauseévioran never requested it: he simply “took off” from work, apparently without advising
anyone of his intention to do anything other th&endto a doctor’'s appointment.

Furthermore, Moran has failed to plausibly allege a causal connection betmeether
protected activity and his suspension. To the extent that Moran’s previouptatte obtain days
off as an accommodationjleged to haveommencedn April 2011, might be viewed as the
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“protected activity” to which Wegmans wagpposedlyesponding when it suspended Moran
August 2011, the foumonth lapse of time between those events is too remateitate such a
connection given that temporal proximity is the s@eidence ottausal connection upon which
Moran relies (Dkt. #1 at 120) (Moran alleges that in April 20hE, began “work[ing] closely
with [Wegmans] Human Resources to address his need to take off certain dayks daievtwr his
ongoing medical conditio as a reasonable accommoddfionSee e.g., Brown v. City of New
York, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 159202 at *9-*10 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (collecting cases and noting that
where months pass betwethe alleged protected activitgnd the allegeddverse employment
action, temporal proximity alone is insufficient to plead or prove a causal linikebe them).

For these reason, | find thdibranhad failed to state@ausibleclaim for retaliatiorunder

the ADA or NYHRL andthose claims ardismissed.

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, | find tioranhas failed to state a claim upon which relief
can be granted Accordingly, defendant'siotion © dismiss the complaint (Dkt. #4) is granted,

and the complaint is dismissedits entirety, with prejudice.

b i

DAVID G. LARIMER
United States District Judge

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated: Rochester, New York
December 12, 2014.



